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Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the
following provisions:
¨

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

¨

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

¨

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

¨

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this
chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).
Emerging growth company ¨
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with
any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ¨

Explanatory Note
On August 31, 2018, Lydall, Inc. (the “Company”) completed the acquisition of Interface Performance Materials ("Interface"), based in Lancaster,
Pennsylvania. A globally-recognized leader in the delivery of engineered sealing solutions, the Interface operations manufacture wet-laid gasket
and specialty materials primarily serving OEM and Tier I manufacturers in the agriculture, construction, earthmoving, industrial, and automotive
markets. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to the terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 9, 2018, by and among the
Company, Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co., and Vulcan Global, LLC (the “Purchase Agreement”). Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co. is the
parent holding company of the Interface operations.
The transaction strengthens the Company's position as an industry-leading global provider of filtration materials and expands the Company's end
markets into attractive adjacencies. The Company acquired Interface for $268.4 million, net of cash acquired of $5.2 million, subject to post-closing
purchase price adjustments. The purchase price was financed with a combination of cash on hand and $261.4 million of borrowings from the
Company's $450 million amended credit facility. Beginning with 2018 third quarter reporting, the acquired business was included in the Company's
Performance Materials reporting segment.
In the Company’s current report on Form 8-K filed on September 7, 2018 to report the Acquisition (the “Initial Form 8-K”), the Company indicated
that the financial statements and pro forma financial information under Item 9.01 would be filed no later than 71 days after the date the Initial Form 8K reporting the Acquisition was required to be filed. This amendment to the Initial Form 8-K, is to provide the financial statements and pro forma
financial information required by Item 9.01 of Form 8-K.
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Section 9 - Financial Statements and Exhibits
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits
(a) Financial Statements of business acquired.
The audited condensed consolidated financial statements of Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016 are attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this current report on Form 8-K/A and are incorporated herein by reference.
The unaudited consolidated financial statements of Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries for the six months ended June 30,
2018 and 2017 are attached as Exhibit 99.2 to this current report on Form 8-K/A and are incorporated herein by reference.
(b) Pro Forma financial information.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, and for the year ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes are attached as Exhibit 99.3 to this current report on Form 8-K/A and are incorporated herein by reference.
(d) Exhibits.
The following exhibits are included with this report, as set forth below:
Exhibit
Number
10.1

10.2

10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7

Exhibit
Description
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated August 9, 2018, by and among Lydall, Inc., Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co. and Vulcan
Global, LLC, an affiliate of Wind Point Partners, filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K dated August 14, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference. (The Company will supplementally furnish any omitted schedules to the Commission upon
request).*
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and among Lydall, Inc., as borrower, the
Guarantors named therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent for the Lenders. (The Company will supplementally furnish
any omitted schedules to the Commission upon request).*
Second Amended and Restated Guaranty Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and among Lydall, Inc., and Bank of America,
N.A.*
Second Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018 by and between Lydall Thermal/Acoustical, Inc.,
and Bank of America, N.A.*
Second Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018 by and between Lydall Performance Materials, Inc.
(formerly Lydall Filtration/Separation, Inc.) and Bank of America, N.A.*
Second Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018 by and between Lydall International, Inc., and
Bank of America, N.A.*
Amended and Restated Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018 by and between Lydall Southern Felt Company, Inc., and
Bank of America, N.A.*
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10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
23.1
99.1
99.2
99.3

Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and between Lydall North America LLC, and Bank of America, N.A.*
Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and between Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co., and Bank of America,
N.A.*
Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and between Interface Performance Materials, Inc., and Bank of America, N.A.*
Security Agreement, dated August 31, 2018, by and between Interface Sealing Solutions, Inc., and Bank of America*
Consent of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP.
Audited consolidated financial statements of Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Unaudited consolidated financial statements of Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries for the six months
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and for the year
ended December 31, 2017 and the related notes.

* Previously filed or furnished
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Cautionary Statements
Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
Any statements contained in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking
statements. All such forward-looking statements are intended to provide management’s current expectations for the future operating and financial
performance of the Company based on current assumptions relating to the Company’s business, the economy and future conditions. Forwardlooking statements generally can be identified through the use of words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “may,” “should,” “will,” “plans,”
“projects,” “expects,” “expectations,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “predicts,” “targets,” “prospects,” “strategy,” “signs” and other words of similar
meaning in connection with the discussion of future operating or financial performance. Forward-looking statements may include, among other
things, statements relating to future sales, earnings, cash flow, results of operations, uses of cash and other measures of financial performance.
Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent risks, uncertainties and changes in circumstances that are
difficult to predict. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, those identified in Part I, Item 1A - Risk Factors of Lydall’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 and Part II, Item 1A Risk Factors of Lydall’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2018. Accordingly, the Company’s actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by forward-looking statements.
Investors, therefore, are cautioned against relying on any of these forward-looking statements. They are neither statements of historical fact nor
guarantees or assurances of future performance. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 8-K/A, and Lydall does
not assume any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement made in this Form 8-K/A or that may from time to time be made by or
on behalf of the Company.
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SIGNATURE
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
LYDALL, INC.
November 16, 2018

By:

/s/ Randall B. Gonzales
Randall B. Gonzales
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
(On behalf of the Registrant and as
Principal Financial Officer)
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Section 2: EX-23.1 (EXHIBIT 23.1)
Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Auditor
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos.333-181139, 333-160511, 333-109500, 33308886) of Lydall, Inc. of our report dated March 29, 2018 relating to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Susquehanna Capital
Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 included in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A.
/s/ Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
Wormleysburg, Pennsylvania
November 16, 2018
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Section 3: EX-99.1 (EXHIBIT 99.1)
Exhibit 99.1
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Company and Subsidiaries
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Board of Directors
Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries, which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the related consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive
income, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Susquehanna
Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
Wormleysburg, Pennsylvania
March 29, 2018
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(In thousands, except share data)
2017

2016

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and other receivables, net
Inventories, net
Income tax receivable
Other current assets

$

Total current assets

5,910
23,289
18,317
975
2,181

$

11,700
17,176
16,615
1,033

50,672

46,524

Property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $36,696 and $31,790, respectively

22,035

21,158

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $32,540 and $28,644, respectively

14,779

18,454

Goodwill, net of accumulated impairment loss of $16,023 for both 2017 and 2016

57,424

57,424

1,170

760

Other assets
Total assets

$

146,080

$

144,320

$

9,074
7,225
5,996

$

6,559
887
6,038
11,352

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses
Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturities and unamortized financing costs of $507 and $851,
respectively
Deferred income taxes
Other Liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Common stock, voting, $0.001 par value; 1,000 shares authorized; 100 shares issued and
outstanding
Paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page 7.
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22,295

24,836

115,456

113,308

28

39

21,514

24,234

159,293

162,417

22,830
(33,284)
(2,759)

22,830
(34,551)
(6,376)

(13,213)

(18,097)

146,080

$

144,320

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Earnings and Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(In thousands)
2017
Net sales

$

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Operating income
Other non-operating income (expense), net

2016

141,603

$

99,342

91,274

42,261

35,248

28,958

30,066

13,303

5,182
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Interest expense, net
Income (Loss) before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)

$

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Defined benefit pension and postretirement plans net income (loss), net of income taxes
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page 7.
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126,522

(20)

(10,039)

(9,673)

3,274

(4,511)

2,007

(1,597)

1,267

$

(2,914)

1,881
1,736

(701)
(321)

3,617

(1,022)

4,884

$

(3,936)

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(In thousands)

Common
Stock
Balance, December 31, 2015

$

Comprehensive loss
Balance, December 31, 2016
Comprehensive income
Balance, December 31, 2017

$

Paid-in
Capital
-

$

Accumulated
Deficit

22,830

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

(31,637) $

(5,354) $

Total
(14,161)

-

-

(2,914)

(1,022)

(3,936)

-

22,830

(34,551)

(6,376)

(18,097)

-

-

1,267

3,617

4,884

-

$

22,830

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page 7.
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$

(33,284) $

(2,759) $

(13,213)

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
(In thousands)
2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Noncash interest expense
Noncash LIFO allowance
Noncash purchase accounting write off of LIFO inventories
Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipment
Loss recognized on closure of China plant
Deferred income taxes
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts and other receivables, net
Inventories
Income taxes receivable
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment and other assets
Proceeds from disposal of peoperty, plant and equipment related to China closure
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of foreign currency translation adjustment on cash

2016

1,267

$

4,034
3,675
5,428
104
6
117
1,725

3,477
5,627
4,861
(9)
356
57
555
(2,187)

(6,113)
(1,806)
(975)
(951)

(407)
3,075
8
(2)

2,339
(887)
(1,534)

721
2,540

6,429

15,758

(4,535)
-

(2,602)
88

(4,535)

(2,514)

429
(9,064)

(6,948)

(8,635)

(6,948)

951

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(2,914)

66

(5,790)

6,362

11,700

5,338

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

5,910

$

11,700

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:
Interest paid

$

4,653

$

4,806

Interest added to principal amount of subordinated debt

5,084

4,517

Income taxes paid, net

3,490

64

176

126

Amounts in accounts payable for capital expenditures
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements beginning on page 7.
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
NOTE 1. Organization and Nature of Operations
Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company (“SCAC” or the “Company”) is engaged in the design, manufacture, and sale of beater addition
gasket materials, which are sold in either roll or sheet form or as fabricated gaskets to suppliers and manufacturers in the global truck, small
engine, and automotive markets. The Company is also engaged in the design and manufacture of other specialty paper products and
engineered composites.
The Company is headquartered in Lancaster, Pennsylvania and operates additional manufacturing facilities in Fulton, New York; Beaver Falls,
New York; Hoosick Falls, New York; Marshalltown, Iowa; Sohna, India; and Altenkirchen, Germany, and has sales and marketing offices in
Detroit, Michigan; Bonloc, France; and Shanghai, China. During 2017, we finalized liquidation procedures to close our Taicang, China facility.
On December 21, 2011, a merger among SCAC and Vulcan Global, LLC (“Acquirer” or “Parent”) was consummated pursuant to a Merger
Agreement under which SCAC became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Acquirer. The merger and related transactions are referred to herein as
the “Merger.” The Company has reflected the acquisition accounting of the Acquirer in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as
of December 21, 2011. As of that date, the accounts of the Company have been adjusted to reflect the fair value of the Company’s net assets
based on the Acquirer’s acquisition cost basis, the basis at which the accounts of the Company are carried in the Acquirer’s consolidated
financial statements.
NOTE 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries consisting
primarily of Interface Performance Materials, Inc. (“IPM”) (formerly known as Interface Solutions, Inc.), Interface Sealing
Solutions, Inc. (“ISS”) and Interface Sealing Solutions Hong Kong, Limited (“ISSHK”). Intercompany transactions and balances between
and among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the
date of purchase.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts established to provide for losses from uncollectible accounts
based on management’s estimates and historical collections. Credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial
condition and the Company generally does not require collateral. Accounts are written off against the allowance when management
determines the account is uncollectible. Accounts are considered to be past due when the customer’s receivable balance ages beyond the
payment term date. Finance charges are not assessed on past due accounts.
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value for first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method inventories or the lower of cost or
market for last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method inventories. The cost of inventories stated under the LIFO method was approximately 44% of
total inventories as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on our
accounting for inventories.
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment is recorded at cost, with the exception of acquired assets which are recorded at their fair value as of the
date of acquisition. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated
useful lives of the property, plant, and equipment are as follows: 10 to 30 years for buildings, 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment,
and the lesser of the determined useful life or the life of the lease for leasehold improvements.
When assets are disposed of or retired, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated financial
statements, and any resulting gains or losses normally are reflected in cost of goods sold or selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”)
expenses depending on the nature of the asset.
See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures on property, plant, and equipment.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company tests long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows is less than the carrying
amount of the assets, the assets are considered to be impaired. Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. When fair values are not available, the Company estimates fair value using the
expected future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risks associated with the recovery of the assets or the best
available indicator of fair value. There were no impairment charges recorded against long-lived assets for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016.
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Intangible Assets
The Company’s only indefinite lived intangible asset is Goodwill, which represents costs in excess of fair values assigned to the
underlying net assets of acquired businesses. Our definite-lived intangible assets are primarily customer lists, trademarks and trade names
and patents. The Company follows Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC 350”) Intangibles - Goodwill and Others. Although, as a
private company, the Company would be eligible to amortize goodwill under the provisions of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2014–02, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) the Company has not elected to adopt those provisions. As such, the guidance
requires that goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets not be amortized. Under the provisions of ASC 350, intangible assets,
including goodwill, that are not subject to amortization are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Beginning with the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company opted to perform
a qualitative assessment to test goodwill for impairment, as permitted by ASU 2011-08, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350).
ASU 2011-08 simplifies how entities test goodwill for impairment.
Based on the qualitative assessment as outlined in ASC 2011-08, if a Company determines that the fair value of a reporting unit is morelikely-than-not (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50 percent) to be less than its carrying amount, the two step impairment test would be
performed. In the first step, the Company would compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not considered impaired and the Company is
not required to perform further testing. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the
reporting unit, then the Company would perform the second step of the impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value of the
goodwill. If the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then the Company would be required to record an impairment
loss equal to the difference.
There were no goodwill impairment charges recorded during 2017 and 2016.
See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures on intangible assets.
Other Assets
Other long-term assets include primarily computer software which is being amortized over three to five years.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) and other changes in stockholders’ equity from transactions and events other
than with stockholders and dividends. See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosure on accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”).
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized from the sale of products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss transfers to the
customer, prices are fixed and determinable, and it is reasonably assured the related accounts receivable is collectible. In the case of
consigned goods, revenue is recognized upon consumption by the customer. Sales to customers include freight invoiced while freight
expense incurred is included in cost of goods sold.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The Company records all
deferred tax assets and liabilities as non-current in the consolidated balance sheet based upon ASC 740.
The Company follows the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. A tax
position is recognized as a benefit at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained in a tax examination based solely on its
merits. An uncertain tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Under the threshold
guidelines, the Company believes no significant uncertain tax positions exist, either individually or in the aggregate, that would result in
recognition of a liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
The Company’s policy is to account for interest as a component of interest expense and penalties as a component of other expense.
See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further disclosures on income taxes.
Presentation of Sales Tax
The Company does not collect state sales taxes from its domestic customers because all domestic customers are manufacturers and exempt
from state sales taxes, but it does collect a value added tax on certain of its foreign sales and remits the entire amount to the foreign
government. The Company’s accounting policy is to exclude the tax collected and remitted from revenues and cost of goods sold.

10

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Research and Development Costs
Costs associated with the development of new products and changes to existing products are expensed as incurred and are in included in
SG&A expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of earnings. Research and development costs amounted to $3,475 and $3,627
for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company uses the local currency as the functional currency for foreign operations. Results of foreign operations are translated into
U.S. dollars using average exchange rates during the period, while assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates
in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss).
Transaction gains and losses resulting from exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency are included in the Company’s consolidated statement of earnings in the period in which the change occurs.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses and the disclosure of certain contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 29, 2018, which is the date the consolidated financial statements were
available to be issued.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
During 2017, the Company adopted the guidance of the FASB’s ASU 2015-11 “Inventory”, Topic 835-30: “Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory”. The guidance in this ASU applies to inventory measured using FIFO or average cost. The new guidance requires an entity to
measure inventory within the scope of the update at the lower of cost and net realizable value. There were no impacts to the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows as a result of this guidance.
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Issued Accounting Standards
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” ASU 2014-09 establishes principles
for recognizing revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers, in an amount that reflects the expected
consideration received in exchange for those goods or services. During 2015 and 2016, the FASB also issued ASU 2015-14, which defers
the effective date of ASU 2014-09; ASU No. 2016-08, “Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)”,
which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations in Topic 606; ASU 2016-10, “Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing”, which clarifies the identification of performance obligations and the licensing implementation
guidance; ASU 2016-12, “Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients” and ASU 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and
Improvements to Topic 606”, which both affect narrow aspects of Topic 606. During 2017, the FASB also issued ASU No. 2017-13 and
ASU No. 2017-14 that relate to revenue recognition for lessors and reporting of comprehensive income related to revenue recognition,
respectively. Topic 606 (as amended) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The company may elect to apply the guidance earlier, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2016. The amendments may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognized as of the date of initial application. The Company is currently assessing the effect that Topic 606 (as
amended) will have on its financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows as a result of this guidance.
During February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 “Leases (Topic 842).” ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize the assets and
liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make
lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. ASU 201602 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect that ASU No. 2016-02 will have on its financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows as a result of this guidance.
During January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.” ASU No. 2017-04 simplifies how
an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. ASU No. 2017-04 is effective
for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for interim
or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company notes that the adoption of this ASU
will only impact the consolidated financial statements in the event a goodwill impairment were to be recognized.
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During March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07— “Compensation – Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the Presentation
of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost”. ASU No. 2017-07 improve the presentation of net periodic
pension and postretirement costs by requiring that employers report the service cost component in the same line item or items as other
compensation costs arising from services rendered by pertinent employees during the period. The other components of net benefit cost
are required to be presented in the income statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from
operations, if one is presented. If a separate line item is not used in the income statement the other components of net benefit cost must be
disclosed. The amendment also only allows the service cost component to be eligible for capitalization when applicable. ASU No. 2017-07
is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is currently assessing the effect that ASU No. 2017-07 will
have on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows as a result of this guidance.
During February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, “Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income” which is intended to help organizations
reclassify certain stranded income tax effects in accumulated other comprehensive income resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 (the Act). This ASU will eliminate the stranded tax effects associated with the Act’s change in the federal corporate income tax rate,
while improving the usefulness of information reported to financial statement users. The amendments require financial statement preparers
to reclassify stranded tax effects within accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings in each period in which the effect of
the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Act (or portion thereof) is recorded. The amount of the reclassification would
be the difference between the historical corporate income tax rate and the newly enacted 21 percent corporate income tax rate. The ASU is
effective for all organizations for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted. Organizations are required to apply the proposed amendments retrospectively to each period (or periods) in which
the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Act is recognized. The Company is currently assessing the
effect that ASU No. 2018-02 will have on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows as a result of this guidance.
NOTE 3. Accounts and Other Receivables
2017
Trade receivables
Other receivables

$

2016
23,425
66

$

23,491
(202)

Allowance for bad debts
$

13

23,289

17,395
71
17,466
(290)

$

17,176

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
NOTE 4. Inventories
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, inventory listed below was shown net of an obsolescence allowance of $1,776 and $1,718, respectively.
2017
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Supplies

2016

$

5,972
4,553
5,040
2,996

FIFO value
LIFO allowance

$

4,759
4,091
4,964
2,941

18,561
(244)
$

18,317

16,755
(140)
$

16,615

During 2017, the Company increased the LIFO allowance by $104 to $244. In 2016, the Company decreased the LIFO allowance by $9 to $140
from $149 in 2015.
Supplies inventory includes components that will be coupled with gaskets for kits as well as fuel and spare parts available for use in the
Company’s operations.
NOTE 5. Property, Plant, and Equipment
2017
Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Construction in process

$

2016
2,476
15,699
38,373
2,183

$

58,731
(36,696)

Accumulated depreciation
$

22,035

Depreciation expense was $4,034 and $3,477 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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2,326
14,656
35,211
755
52,948
(31,790)

$

21,158

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
NOTE 6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Under ASC 350, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment. There
were no impairment charges recorded in 2017 or 2016 as the result of our annual testing performed as of December 31, 2017 and December 31,
2016. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company’s accounting policy for intangible assets.
The following table reflects the components of intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016:
2017
Gross Carrying
Amount
Non-amortized intangible assets:
Goodwill
Amortized intangible assets:
Patents
Trademarks and trade names
Customer lists and relationships

2016
Accumulated
Amortization

$

57,424

$

$

1,183
7,334
38,802

$

47,319

Gross Carrying
Amount

-

Accumulated
Amortization

$

57,424

$

-

$

(1,183) $
(7,334)
(24,023)

1,183
7,307
38,608

$

(1,183)
(7,307)
(20,154)

$

(32,540) $

47,098

$

(28,644)

Goodwill is presented net of the accumulated impairment loss of $16,023 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.
In addition to goodwill, the Company has customer relationships, trademarks and trade names, and patents which are deemed to have a finite
life, and are amortized over the useful lives of these assets, ranging from 5 to 10 years.
Amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives was as follows for the years ended December 31:
2017
Amortization expense

$

15

3,675

2016
$

5,627

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
The estimated aggregate amortization expense consists of the following for each of the five years ending December 31, 2022, and thereafter:
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

$

3,720
3,720
3,720
3,619
-

The weighted average remaining useful life of the intangible assets being amortized is approximately 3.3 years at December 31, 2017.
NOTE 7. Accrued Expenses
2017
Employee compensation
Interest expense
Management fees
Other

2016

$

3,684
60
1,980
1,501

$

3,208
106
1,320
1,404

$

7,225

$

6,038

NOTE 8. Debt
On June 20, 2014, the Company amended and restated its $105,000 credit facility with a modified lending syndicate. The amended facility is
comprised of a $100,000 term loan and a $20,000 revolving credit facility (with a $3,000 sublimit for letters of credit), both of which are scheduled
to mature on June 20, 2019. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are limited based on certain levels of eligible accounts receivable and
inventories. Commitment fees are charged at 0.45% on the unused portion of the revolver. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility and
term loan bear interest, payable monthly, at rates based on a bank base rate plus an applicable margin or payable quarterly, at LIBOR plus an
applicable margin. At the Company’s election, the borrowings under the term loan bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin. Interest is
payable based on the respective LIBOR rate maturity (interest period), provided that if the LIBOR maturity is six months or longer, interest is
payable on the ninetieth day of the interest period, and every ninetieth day thereafter until the end of the interest period and on the last day of
the interest period.
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Borrowings under the credit agreement are collateralized by 100% of the capital stock of the Company and the Company’s domestic and select
foreign subsidiaries, 65% of the capital stock of certain other of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries and substantially all of the real and
personal property of the Company and the Company’s domestic subsidiaries.
The available borrowings under the revolving credit facility are reduced by the total outstanding letters of credit. The Company had letters of
credit outstanding of $126 at December 31, 2017 and 2016. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility were $2,000 at December 31, 2017 and
2016. The available credit under the revolving credit facility, net of borrowings and taking into account the Forbearance Agreement discussed
later, is approximately $11,124 and $11,207, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Concurrent with the amendment of the credit facility in June 2014, the terms of the $32,000, related party, subordinated notes entered into on
December 21, 2011 were also updated. Borrowings on the subordinated notes now bear interest at 12% payable on the first day of each March,
June, September, and December, effective June 20, 2014. The interest rate was reduced from the initial 18% and the terms of the interest
payments were modified, from exclusively Payment-in-Kind (“PIK”), to include PIK, cash payment, or a combination of the two methods. The
maturity date was also extended from June 21, 2017 to June 21, 2020. On November 30, 2017 the Company entered into an additional $429 of
subordinated notes subject to the June 2014 updated terms and conditions. The outstanding principal and related accrued interest are included
in the outstanding balances shown in the table below.
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A summary of debt consists of the following as of December 31:
2017
Senior Debt:
Variable rate term loan; as a result of the excess cash flow payment required at December
31, 2016 the repayment schedule was modified to require quarterly principal payments
of $1,186 through June 30, 2018, $1,811 from September 30, 2018 through March 30,
2019, with the balance due at maturity on June 20, 2019; as a result of the excess cash
flow payment required at December 31, 2014, the repayment schedule was modified to
require quarterly principal payments of $1,112 through June 30, 2016, $1,737 from
September 30, 2016 through June 30, 2018, and $2,362 from September 30, 2018 through
March 30, 2019, with the balance due at maturity on June 20, 2019. Additional principal
payments may be due based on annual excess cash flow as defined in the credit
agreement. If such payments are required the future quarterly principal payments will
be modified to reflect these payments. Interest is charged at varying rates: 5.68% and
5.50% at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
$
Less: Unamortized financing costs
Senior Debt, net
Revolving Credit Facility:
Revolver bearing interest at LIBOR plus applicable margin, which was 1.57% and 4.00%,
respectively, at December 31, 2017 and 1.0% and 4.50%, respectively, at December 31,
2016. The latest amendment effective June 20, 2014 extended the due date from February
1, 2017 to June 20, 2019
Subordinated Debt:
Fixed rate term loan, interest at 12% scheduled to mature on June 21, 2020.

Current maturities
$

18

2016

74,555 $
(507)

83,620
(851)

74,048

82,769

2,000

2,000

45,404

39,891

121,452
(5,996)

124,660
(11,352)

115,456

$

113,308

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
No excess cash flow payment was required for 2017 based on the results of the annual calculation. However, the annual excess cash flow
calculation for the year ended 2016 resulted in the Company being required to make an additional principal payment of $4,404. The payment is
reflected in current maturities of long-term debt and was paid on July 28, 2017.
The PIK on the subordinated debt represents interest expense incurred, but not paid in cash. The PIK is added quarterly to the principal
amount due and future period interest accruals are based on principal amounts including PIK incurred. The total amount of PIK interest
outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016, was $12,976 and $7,891, respectively. The total interest expense related to the subordinated debt
was $5,084 and $4,517 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Maturities of long-term debt outstanding, excluding unamortized financing costs, as of December 31, 2017, based on the terms of the
underlying agreements are as follows:
Senior
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

Subordinated

Total

$

5,996
70,559
-

$

45,404
-

$

5,996
70,559
45,404
-

$

76,555

$

45,404

$

121,959

Cash interest payments related to senior debt were $4,653 and $4,806 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These
amounts exclude all payments for PIK interest related to the subordinated debt.
The debt arrangements in place as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 subject the Company to various affirmative and negative covenants. Among
other things, the covenants limit the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, declare or pay dividends, and require the Company to
maintain certain financial ratios with respect to fixed charge coverage and senior leverage as defined in the arrangements.
At December 31, 2015, the Company was not in compliance with certain of the financial debt covenants noted above. In February of 2016, the
Company was granted a waiver from the lending syndicate providing relief from the non-compliant status at December 31, 2015.
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In July 2016, the Company and the members of the lending syndicate entered into a Forbearance and Amendment Agreement (“the agreement”)
which was scheduled to expire in January 2017. In the agreement, the lenders agreed to forgo enforcement actions related to existing and
prospective defaults related to the senior leverage ratio, delivery of required financial documents and other items provided the Company
remained compliant with all the terms and conditions of the agreement. If additional defaults occurred during the forbearance period the lenders
may have opted to enforce a default interest rate which subjected the Company to an additional 2% interest on the unpaid loan balance
effective June 15, 2016 for the remainder of the forbearance period. In January 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to extend the
expiration date of the agreement to May 31, 2017, and in May 2017 an additional amendment extended the expiration date to June 30, 2017.
During the forbearance period, the revolving credit facility availability was reduced from $20,000 to approximately $13,300. Additionally, the
Company was subjected to modified financial ratio requirements. The Company was required to maintain a senior leverage ratio of less than 5 to
1 through June 30, 2017 (modified from 4.25 or 3.75 to 1), and the fixed charge covenant remained unchanged at 1.1 to 1. Upon expiration of the
forbearance period, if all the specified defaults had not been cured or waived by the lenders, the lenders had the ability to require repayment of
the unpaid loan balance.
The agreement restricted the Company’s ability to make payments under the Management and subordinated note agreements entered into with
related parties (excluding director’s fees and expense reimbursement) or to incur any form of additional debt. Under the agreement the Company
was required to (1) make a $2,500 prepayment on the term loan which was applied evenly to the September 2016 and final payment; (2) pay
certain fees and expenses of the lenders; (3) issue the 2015 Audited Financial Statements within 30 days from the effective date of the
agreement in addition to other financial and banking requirements.
In June 2017, the Company re-negotiated the terms and conditions of the credit facility (“new agreement”). The new agreement made the
reduction to the revolving credit facility in the forbearance agreement permanent at approximately $13,300. The Company is now required to
maintain a senior leverage ratio of less than 3.95 or 3.75 to 1 for the quarters ending June 30, 2017 through June 30, 2018 (modified from 3.50 or
3.25 to 1 for the same periods), effective September 30, 2018 the senior leverage ratio will correspond with the original agreement at 3.25 to 1, the
fixed charge covenant will remain unchanged at 1.1 to 1. The amendment provided a waiver for the non-compliant status for the quarters ended
March 31, 2016 and June 30, 2016. Additionally, under the agreement the Company was required to (1) pay certain fees and expenses of the
lenders; (2) issue the 2016 Audited Financial Statements within 30 days from the effective date of the new agreement in addition to other
financial and banking requirements. Lastly, the Company was permitted to resume payments of management fees once the Company is
compliant with the financial ratios contained in the original credit agreement. In September 2017, the Company’s leverage ratio dropped below
the original credit agreement requirement of 3.5 to 1, as a result the Company paid $660 of the management fees accrued on the balance sheet at
December 31, 2016.
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NOTE 9. Income Taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following for the years ended December 31:
2017
Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

$

2016

1,574
91
307

Total current expense

$

813
102
-

1,972

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred expense (benefit)
Total income tax expense (benefit)

$

915

259
(213)
(11)

(2,326)
(186)
-

35

(2,512)

2,007

$

(1,597)

Temporary differences between financial statement and tax reporting that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets relate
primarily to the allowance for doubtful accounts, state tax operating losses, inventory, certain accrued compensation costs, accruals for
pension and postretirement benefit costs and certain intangible assets. Temporary differences between financial statement and tax reporting
that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax liabilities relate primarily to inventory, plant and equipment, accruals for pension and
postretirement benefit costs and certain intangible assets.
A summary of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, is as follows:
2017

2016

Domestic deferred tax assets
Less: Valuation Allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Domestic deferred tax liabilities
Foreign deferred tax liabilities

$

6,791 $
(823)
5,968
(5,968)
(28)

12,062
(477)
11,585
(11,585)
(39)

Net deferred tax liabilities

$

(28) $

(39)

In addition to the deferred tax benefit reported above for operations, the deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect taxes related to accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). Deferred tax assets (liabilities) related to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were $1,007 and
$1,627 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively; however there has been a full valuation allowance applied against these deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, including the change in deferred tax assets related to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
of $620 in 2017.
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The Company’s income tax expense (benefit) in the consolidated statement of earnings for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
differed from income tax expense at the statutory federal rate primarily due to permanent differences; including the effects of the Domestic
Production Activity Deduction, and the recording of valuation allowances and state income taxes.
The Company has valuation allowances of $823 and $477 recorded against 100% of the net domestic deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively.
On December 22, 2017, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law. The legislation significantly changes U.S. tax law by, among other things,
lowering corporate income tax rates, implementing a territorial tax system and imposing a repatriation tax on deemed repatriated earnings of
foreign subsidiaries. The Act permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate from a maximum of 35% to a flat 21% rate, effective
January 1, 2018.
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. As a result of the reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax
rate from 35% to 21% under the Act, the Company revalued its ending net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017 and recognized a
provisional $650 deferred tax expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2017. As the Company is in a full domestic valuation allowance position, this change in deferred tax asset is offset by valuation
allowance. The Company has recognized the provisional tax impacts related to the revaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and included
these amounts in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 based on the best estimates of the ultimate tax
impact. The actual impact may differ from these provisional amounts due to, among other things, additional analysis, changes in interpretations
and assumptions the Company has made, additional regulatory guidance that may be issued, and actions the Company may decide to take as a
result of the Act.
The Act provided for a one-time deemed mandatory repatriation of post-1986 undistributed foreign subsidiary earnings and profits (“E&P”)
through the year ended December 31, 2017. The Company is not subject to this repatriation because its profitable foreign subsidiaries are
disregarded for U.S. tax purposes and no positive un-repatriated E&P exists in any of the controlled foreign corporations as of December 31,
2017. The Act also prospectively enacted new interest expense limitations for tax years beginning January 1, 2018 for which the Company may
be limited.
The Company has Pennsylvania (“PA”) state net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $6,168. The Company also has post apportionment
New York (“NY”) state NOL carryforwards of $86. This NY NOL had a pre and post apportioned value of $6,361 and $96, respectively at
December 31, 2016. The PA NOL’s will begin to expire in 2025 while the NY NOL’s begin to expire in 2026. The Company has recorded a
valuation allowance against 100% of the PA and NY NOL’s. In addition, the Company has $4,140 of NY investment tax credit carryforwards.
The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against these state tax carryforwards. These state tax carryforwards are subject to
restrictive use limitations which render the realization of the related tax benefits unlikely.
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Net income taxes paid by the Company in 2017 and 2016 totaled $3,490 and $64, respectively.
The results of certain foreign operations are included in the domestic taxable income or loss for tax purposes.
NOTE 10. Commitments
The Company is obligated under various non-cancelable leases for office facilities, production equipment, and computer equipment. These
leases generally provide for renewal options and, in the case of facilities leases, for periodic rate increases based upon economic factors.
Future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms of one year or more consist of the following as of
December 31, 2017:
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Thereafter

$

1,170
1,120
1,004
1,018
902
1,224

Total rent expense was $1,489 and $1,566 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
NOTE 11. Pension Plans
The Company has two domestic noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering the majority of employees. For the larger of the two
plans, effective May 1, 2005, newly hired non-union employees, effective July 1, 2005, newly hired Fulton union employees, effective
November 16, 2008, newly hired Hoosick Falls union employees, and effective December 31, 2009, newly hired Lewis union employees of
Interface Performance Materials, Inc. are no longer enrolled in the plan; instead, some of these employee groups are eligible for a Company
match in the Company’s defined contribution 401(k) plans. For the smaller of the two plans, effective June 15, 2009, newly hired non-union
employees at the Marshalltown facility of Interface Sealing Solutions, Inc. are no longer enrolled in the plan. For the larger of the two plans, the
benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s average compensation during the three highest of last ten consecutive years of
covered employment. For the smaller plan, the benefits are based on years of service with a fixed monthly accrual each year. The projected unit
credit method is used to determine both pension costs and funding requirements. The Company’s funding policy is to contribute annually the
minimum amount required by U.S. government agencies’ regulations. The assets for the plans are principally invested in stocks, bonds, and
mutual funds.
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In 2008, for non-union members of the larger plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective December 31, 2008. The pension benefit
was replaced by discretionary employer contributions to one of the Company’s defined contribution plans beginning in 2009. In 2009, for nonunion members of the smaller plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective June 15, 2009. Also in 2009, for Lewis union employees
participating in the larger plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective December 31, 2009. In 2010, for Hoosick Falls union
members of the larger plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective December 31, 2013. In March 2012, for union members of the
smaller plan, the Company froze benefits effective May 31, 2012.
The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 and for the years then ended. These amounts are determined by a third-party actuary using December 31 of each
year as the measurement date:
2017
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year:
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefit payments
Effect of change in assumptions
Actuarial loss (gain)

$

2016

55,243 $
150
2,064
(2,806)
2,267
(19)

55,638
166
2,157
(2,665)
82
(135)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year

56,899

55,243

Change in fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Employer contributions
Actual return on plan assets
Benefits paid

39,498
170
6,826
(2,806)

40,513
10
1,640
(2,665)

43,688

39,498

Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Funded status

$

Accumulated benefit obligation

$

(13,211) $
56,899

(15,745)

$

55,243

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, each of the Company’s plans had both accumulated benefit obligations and projected benefit obligations in
excess of plan assets.
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of the following as of December 31:
2017
Other liabilities (noncurrent)
Deferred tax asset (liability)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

$
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(13,211) $
1,454
2,585

2016
(15,745)
2,113
3,756
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The components of actuarially computed net pension credit consist of the following for the years ended December 31:
2017
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service credit

2016

$

150 $
2,064
(2,746)
(3)

166
2,157
(2,725)
(3)

$

(535) $

(405)

Pension plan amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax effect:
Net actuarial loss

$

(2,585) $

(3,756)

Pension plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss expected to be recognized in
net pension expense over the next fiscal year, net of tax effect:
Net gain (loss)

$

-

Net pension credit

$

-

The benefit obligation and net pension income are determined using the following assumptions as of December 31:
2017
Discount rate for benefit obligations
Discount rate for net pension credit
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

3.40%
3.85%
7.00%
RP-2014 Blue
Collar Table
with MP-2017
Scale

Mortality tables

2016
3.85%
4.00%
7.00%
RP-2014 Blue
Collar Table
with MP-2016
Scale

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets reflects the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to
provide for the benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. The selected rate considers the historical and expected future investment
trends of the present and expected assets in the plans.
The Company anticipates making contributions of $1,526 to the plans during the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2018.
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid to participants in the plans:
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Five-year period beginning thereafter

$
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2,951
3,031
3,081
3,161
3,211
16,588

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
During 2017 and 2016, the assets of the plans were invested and managed by Wilmington Trust Investment Advisors, Inc. (a division of M&T
Bank), which acts as both trustee and administrator. The Interface Performance Materials Benefits Committee meets periodically to review
current investment policy and to monitor plan performance. The assets of the plans are invested in a manner consistent with the Prudent
Investor Act. The investment objective is growth and income, consistent with the goal of long-term appreciation and modest current income.
The target allocations for plan assets are 45 - 80% equities, 5 - 30% hedges, 0 - 10% cash equivalents, and 5 - 30% fixed income investments.
The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assets as of December 31 by asset category are as follows:

Total
Money market funds
U.S. treasury obligations
U.S. government agencies
Corporate and foreign bonds
Taxable fixed income mutual funds
Domestic equity mutual funds
Closed end equity mutual funds
International closed end funds
International mutual funds

Level 2

$

1,923
1,354
909
1,628
2,000
21,058
2,916
6,126
5,774

$

1,923
2,000
21,058
2,916
6,126
5,774

$

1,354
909
1,628
-

$

43,688

$

39,797

$

3,891

Total
Money market funds
U.S. treasury obligations
U.S. government agencies
Corporate and foreign bonds
Taxable fixed income mutual funds
Domestic equity mutual funds
Global mutual funds
Closed end equity mutual funds
International mutual funds

December 31, 2017
Level 1

December 31, 2016
Level 1

Level 2

$

1,659
1,379
934
1,652
1,512
23,414
2,281
3,146
3,521

$

1,659
1,512
23,414
2,281
3,146
3,521

$

1,379
934
1,652
-

$

39,498

$

35,533

$

3,965

The valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of the pension plan assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are in
accordance with the fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820 as outlined in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
changes in valuation techniques or inputs used during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
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December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
The Company sponsors two retirement plans for the employees of Interface Performance Materials Altenkirchen (“IPMA”). The
noncontributory pension plan covers all employees of IPMA hired prior to June 30, 1980; on this date the plan was frozen to new participation.
The pension plan benefits are based on years of service. The projected unit credit method is used to determine both pension costs and funding
requirements. The total liability associated with this plan as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $2,083 and $1,966, respectively. The second
plan is associated with the German retirement program known as the German Altersteilzeit Arrangement (“ATZ”). The German ATZ is designed
to create incentive for employees within a certain age group to transition from full time or part time employment into retirement before their legal
retirement age. Under German law, an employer is required to allow participation in the ATZ without restriction until participation reaches five
percent of the total workforce; after the five percent participation is achieved, an employer, at their discretion, can approve employees for the
ATZ program. Benefits are based on compensation of the employee, and respective hours worked. In addition, employees participating in the
ATZ program generally receive an annual bonus and an additional pension contribution to compensate for the fact that the employee has not
been working at their previous level during the ATZ period. The annual bonus and the additional pension contributions are subsidized by the
German government for a maximum of six years, which is also the maximum term allowed for an employee’s participation in this program. The
total liability associated with the ATZ plan as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 is $75 and $187, respectively. The Company used a discount rate
of 1.90% and 1.80% and an average rate of compensation increase of 2.07% in determining the liabilities for December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
The Company’s funding policy for both of the IPMA retirement plans is to contribute annually the minimum amounts required by German
government agencies’ regulations.
The Company also sponsors retirement savings plans that are employee savings plans and qualify as deferred salary arrangements under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, for all U.S. salaried and hourly employees. Under the provisions of the plans, eligible employees
may contribute, on a pretax basis, up to the higher of the annual contribution limits established by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), or 60%
of their compensation. Also according to IRS regulations, certain employees defined as "highly compensated," were limited to lower
contribution amounts. In addition, eligible employees may contribute, on an after-tax basis, up to 10% of their compensation. Each employee’s
annual pretax and after-tax contribution is limited to a combined maximum of $51. The plans provide for a discretionary employer match for
certain employees and a non-discretionary match for other employees. Effective December 21, 2008, one of the plans was amended to
discontinue all employer matching contributions (both discretionary and non-discretionary) with respect to any compensation earned or
deferred after December 21, 2008, by all participants, with the exception of those at the former Croghan, New York location. Effective January 1,
2011, one of the plans was amended to provide for a non-discretionary safe harbor match. The Company made non-discretionary matches of
$704 and $578 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. No discretionary matches were made in either year.
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December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
NOTE 12. Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions
The Company provides postretirement life insurance to all employees of Interface Performance Materials, Inc., and postretirement medical
benefits to all Fulton plant hourly employees hired prior to July 1, 2002 and certain executives as determined by the Board of Directors. There
was a significant amendment to the Fulton hourly postretirement medical benefits portion of the plan effective October 1, 2005, which
eliminated the benefit for future retirees and replaced it with a fixed credit amount. During 2008, the Fulton plan was amended such that the life
insurance benefit would only be provided upon the participant retiring prior to 2010.
The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status and the amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31. These amounts are determined by a third-party actuary using December 31 of each year as the measurement date:
2017
Change in accumulated benefit obligation:
Accumulated benefit obligation at beginning of year:
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefit payments
Effect of change in assumptions
Changes due to experience

$

Accumulated benefit obligation at end of year
Change in accumulated postretirement benefit obligation:
Accumulated benefit postretirement obligation at beginning of year:
Fully eligible active plan participants
Other active plan participants
Retirees

$

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation at end of year

2016

5,555 $
8
206
(427)
(40)
26

6,420
13
219
(422)
36
(711)

5,328

5,555

(5,555) $
87
70
70

(6,420)
128
42
695

(5,328)

(5,555)

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Contributions
Benefit payments

$

- $
427
(427)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$

-

$

(5,328) $

Funded status
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$

422
(422)
(5,555)

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of the following as of December 31:
2017
Accrued expenses (current)
Other liabilities (noncurrent)
Deferred tax liability
Accumulated other comprehensive income

$

2016
(433) $
(4,895)
(447)
(795)

(431)
(5,124)
(486)
(863)

The components of actuarially computed net post-retirement benefit expense consist of the following for the years ended December 31:
2017
Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of unrecognized gain

$

Net benefit expense

2016
8 $
206
(120)

13
219
(133)

$

94

$

99

Postretirement benefit plan amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income,
net of tax effect:
Net gain

$

795

$

863

Postretirement benefit plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income expected to
be recognized in net periodic benefit expense over the next fiscal year, net of tax effect:
Net gain

$

76

$

86

The benefit obligation was determined using a discount rate of 3.40% and 3.85% for 2017 and 2016, respectively, and a medical trend rate of
6.00% and 6.50% for both plans for 2017 and 2016, respectively. The medical trend rates are expected to remain steady at 6.0% in 2018, and
decrease 0.5% to 5.5% in 2019 through 2021. Rates will gradually decrease from 5.4% in 2022 to 3.8% in 2075 and late based on the Society of
Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model.
The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. To illustrate, increasing the assumed health care
cost trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31,
2017 by $487, and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the year ended
December 31, 2017 by $19. Decreasing the assumed trend rates by one percentage point would decrease the accumulated obligation as of
December 31, 2017 by $413 and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components by $16.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid to participants in the plans:
Benefit
Payments
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
Five-year period beginning thereafter

$

433
389
374
358
347
1,499

NOTE 13. Stockholders' Equity
Vulcan Global, LLC is the sole holder of the Company’s stock as of December 31, 2017 and 2016. There were no payments made on the
accumulated interest on the subordinated debt in 2017 or 2016.
NOTE 14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The following table summarizes the activity, by component, related to the change in AOCI for December 31, 2017 and 2016:
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Balance December 31, 2015

$

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications, net of tax (expense) benefit
of $ -, $130, and $130

Postretirement
Medical and
Pension
Liability

(2,854) $

(701)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net

Balance December 31, 2016
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications, net of tax (expense)
benefit of $ -, $ -, and $ Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net

(935)

(87)

(87)

(701)

(321)

(1,022)

(3,555)

(2,821)

(6,376)

1,881

1,859

3,740

-

Net current period other comprehensive income

1,881

Balance December 31, 2017

$

30

(5,354)

(234)

-

Net current period other comprehensive loss

(2,500) $

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(1,674) $

(123)
1,736
(1,085) $

(123)
3,617
(2,759)

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2017 and 2016
(dollar amounts in thousands)
The $1,859 of other comprehensive income before reclassifications above includes a $620 impact of the full valuation allowance against pension
deferred tax assets being continued and adjusted for the current year change in deferred tax assets.
The amounts reclassified from AOCI and the affected line item of the Consolidated Statement of Earnings are presented in the table below.
Amounts Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive (Income)
Loss
2017
2016
Pension and Postretirement Adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial gain
Amortization of net actuarial gain
Prior service cost amortization

$

Total income before tax
Tax impact
Total reclassification for the period

$

Affected Line Item in
the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings

(117) $
(4)
(2)

(131)
(2)
(3)

(123)

(136)

-

49

(123) $

(87)

Cost of goods sold
SG&A expense
Cost of goods sold

Income tax expense (benefit)

NOTE 15. Related Party Transactions
As of December 21, 2011, the Company became party to a Management Services Agreement with Wind Point VII, L.P., a related party, under
which it incurs an annual fee of $1,320, paid quarterly in installments of $330. Payment of such fees is subject to a subordination agreement with
the Company’s lenders. Under the terms of the forbearance agreement entered into in July 2016 the Company was prohibited from making cash
payments for the Management Fees until the Company was compliant with the financial ratios contained in the original credit agreement.
Management fees accrued on the balance sheet at December 31, 2017 were $1,980. In September 2017, the Company’s leverage ratio dropped
below the original credit agreement requirement of 3.5 to 1, as a result the Company paid $660 of the $1,320 accrued on the balance sheet at
December 31, 2016. The Company recognizes the fees in expense, and the fees are classified as accrued expenses on the balance sheet.
Related parties of the Company held $45,404 and $39,891 of the Company’s Subordinated Debt as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
On November 30, 2017 additional amounts of $429 were loaned to the Company. These funds are subject to the terms and conditions of the
existing Subordinated Debt agreement. The Company incurred interest expense of $5,084 and $4,517 related to this debt in 2017 and 2016,
respectively, all of which was considered PIK at December 31 and included in the outstanding principal balance. As required under terms of the
Company’s subordinated note arrangements, this interest can be paid in cash, in kind or in a combination thereof. See discussion in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding these related party transactions.
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NOTE 16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Accounting standards require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. The fair value estimates are based upon subjective
assumptions and involve significant uncertainties resulting in estimates that vary with changes in assumptions. Any changes in assumptions
or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair values disclosed.
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other receivables, accounts payable, accrued interest
payable, and long-term debt.
Under ASC 820 fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
U.S. GAAP establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The three levels of inputs used to
measure fair value are as follows:
Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant
unobservable inputs.
The fair values of the Company’s pension plan assets (described in Note 11) at December 31, 2017 and 2016 by asset category and fair value
hierarchy level are as follows. The investments in the money market funds and all mutual funds are based on quoted prices in active markets.
For these funds they are valued at the quoted net asset value of the shares held by the Plan at year end (Level1). The remaining valuations for
the U.S. government securities or corporate and foreign bonds are based on pricing models maximizing the use of observable inputs for similar
securities, including broker/dealer quotes, active market markers, models, and yield curves (Level2).
The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts and other receivables, accounts payable, and accrued interest payable
approximate the fair values of these financial instruments, due to the short-term nature of these items.
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s borrowings under its revolving credit facility and term loan bear interest at a floating rate
that re-prices frequently and, accordingly, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value. Financial instruments also include
subordinated debt with related parties. It is not practicable to estimate the fair value of these notes since they are due to related parties, and
due to the difficulty in estimating what the terms may have been if the notes were with an unrelated third party. The terms of the notes are
described in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTE 17. Litigation and Contingent Liabilities
The Company is involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business, the results of which, in the opinion of management, are not
likely to be material to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
NOTE 18. Concentrations of Credit and Other Risks
As of December 31, 2017, we had 527 full-time and part-time employees worldwide, compared to 480 employees as of December 31, 2016.
Approximately 185 employees or 35% of the Company’s workforce is covered by collective bargaining agreements. During 2017, we negotiated
two collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 97 employees or 18% of the workforce. One collective bargaining agreement
covering approximately 9% of the Company’s workforce will expire during 2018.
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents,
which at times, may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits. The Company maintains cash balances at a commercial bank. At times
throughout the year, the account balances may exceed the F.D.I.C. insurance limit. Generally, the F.D.I.C. insures depositor funds up to $250.
The bank balances in excess of the F.D.I.C. limits amounted to $6,617 and $12,591 as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
The Company’s Interface Performance Materials - Altenkirchen subsidiary is located in Altenkirchen, Germany. The subsidiary’s assets
comprise approximately 13% and 12% of the Company’s consolidated assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and the subsidiary’s
net sales comprise approximately 17% and 18% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
In April 2013, the Company established Interface Sealing Solutions Hong Kong Limited (“ISS-HK”), a Hong Kong holding company and in
January 2014, ISS-HK established Interface Sealing Technology (“Taicang”) Company Limited (“IST”). IST was formed as a wholly-owned
foreign enterprise that engaged in the research, development and manufacture of sealing, heat insulation, noise reduction and shock absorbing
products along with the relevant tooling. In accordance with Chinese regulations, we contributed $2,000 of registered capital over a two year
period beginning in January 2014 and ending in January 2016.
In February 2016, our Board of Directors approved the closure of the “IST” parts plant in China. Due to the poor outlook for revenue at the
plant and the on-going cash requirement to support the operations, the CEO and Board of Directors felt it was prudent to close the plant and
focus Company resources on a more profitable, materials focused marketing plan in the Chinese markets. The formal liquidation process began
July 1, 2016, and the liquidation reporting was filed with the Chinese government in November 2016. The liquidation process was finalized in
2017 and the cash was repatriated to the United States.
During 2017, the Company purchased a beater addition materials line and formed Interface Performance Materials India LLP. The equipment
was purchased from Talbros, a customer of IPM, for approximately $400.
The 2017 and 2016 revenues and asset values related to our foreign operations in China and India were not material to the Company as a whole.
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share data)
Unaudited
June 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $157 and $202,
respectively
Inventories, net
Income tax receivable
Other current assets

$

6,012

$

5,910

27,382
19,498
2,471

23,289
18,317
975
2,181

55,363

50,672

Property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $38,839 and $36,696, respectively

21,224

22,035

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $34,351 and $32,540, respectively

12,919

14,779

Goodwill, net of accumulated impairment loss of $16,023 for both 2018 and 2017

57,424

57,424

1,232

1,170

Total current assets

Other assets
Total assets

$

148,162

$

146,080

$

9,004
287
6,702
74,848

$

9,074
7,225
5,996

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses
Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturities and unamortized financing costs of $334 and $507,
respectively
Deferred income taxes
Other Liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Common stock, voting, $0.001 par value; 1,000 shares authorized; 100 shares issued and
outstanding
Paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)

$

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements beginning on page 5.

1

90,841

22,295

48,184

115,456

31

28

19,865

21,514

158,921

159,293

22,830
(30,255)
(3,334)

22,830
(33,284)
(2,759)

(10,759)

(13,213)

148,162

$

146,080

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income
(In thousands)
Unaudited
Six Months
Ended
June 30, 2018
Net sales

$

Cost of goods sold

79,418

Six Months
Ended
June 30, 2017
$

72,327

55,826

48,908

23,592

23,419

Selling, general, and administrative expenses

14,343

14,142

Operating income

9,249

9,277

418
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Gross profit

Other non-operating income, net
Interest expense, net
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income

$

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Defined benefit pension and postretirement plans net (loss) income, net of income taxes
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Comprehensive income

$

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements beginning on page 5.

2

(5,148)

(5,037)

4,519

4,269

1,490

2,621

3,029

$

1,648

(572)
(3)

1,221
9

(575)

1,230

2,454

$

2,878

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands)
Unaudited
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018
Accumulated
Other
Paid-in
Accumulated
Comprehensive
Capital
Deficit
Loss

Common
Stock
Balance at beginning of period

$

-

Comprehensive income (loss)
Balance, June 30, 2018

$

-

-

-

22,830

Comprehensive income
Balance, June 30, 2017

$

$

(33,284) $
3,029
(30,255)

(2,759) $

-

$

22,830

-

-

-

22,830

$

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements beginning on page 5.

3

(34,551) $

(13,213)

(575)
(3,334)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2017
Accumulated
Other
Paid-in
Accumulated
Comprehensive
Capital
Deficit
Loss

Common
Stock
Balance at beginning of period

22,830

Total

(6,376) $

2,454
(10,759)

Total
(18,097)

1,648

1,230

2,878

(32,903)

(5,146)

(15,219)

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Unaudited
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2018
2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Noncash interest expense
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipment
Deferred income taxes
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts and other receivables, net
Inventories
Income taxes receivable
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment and other assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from revolver
Repayment on revolver
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of foreign currency translation adjustment on cash

3,029

$

2,334
1,860
2,953
-

1,963
1,815
2,615
1
2

(4,093)
(1,181)
975
(352)

(6,741)
(2,797)
(1,050)

(165)
287
(2,173)

1,867
1,344
919

3,474

1,586

(1,933)

(1,046)

(1,933)

(1,046)

(2,373)
3,000
(2,000)

(3,474)
-

(1,373)

(3,474)

(66)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

589

102

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

1,648

(2,345)

5,910

11,700

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

6,012

$

9,355

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:
Interest paid

$

2,208

$

2,442

Interest added to principal amount of subordinated debt

2,780

2,443

Income taxes paid

15

1,157

Amounts in accounts payable for capital expenditures

95

41

See accompanying notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements beginning on page 5.
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Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
(dollar amounts in thousands)
NOTE 1. Organization and Nature of Operations
Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company (“SCAC” or the “Company”) is engaged in the design, manufacture, and sale of beater addition
gasket materials, which are sold in either roll or sheet form or as fabricated gaskets to suppliers and manufacturers in the global truck, small
engine, and automotive markets. The Company is also engaged in the design and manufacture of other specialty paper products and
engineered composites.
The Company is headquartered in Lancaster, Pennsylvania and operates additional manufacturing facilities in Fulton, New York; Beaver Falls,
New York; Hoosick Falls, New York; Marshalltown, Iowa; Sohna, India; and Altenkirchen, Germany, and has sales and marketing offices in
Detroit, Michigan; Bonloc, France; and Shanghai, China. During 2017, we finalized liquidation procedures to close our Taicang, China facility.
On December 21, 2011, a merger among SCAC and Vulcan Global, LLC (“Acquirer” or “Parent”) was consummated pursuant to a Merger
Agreement under which SCAC became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Acquirer. The merger and related transactions are referred to herein as
the “Merger.” The Company has reflected the acquisition accounting of the Acquirer in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial
statements as of December 21, 2011. As of that date, the accounts of the Company have been adjusted to reflect the fair value of the
Company’s net assets based on the Acquirer’s acquisition cost basis, the basis at which the accounts of the Company are carried in the
Acquirer’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
Refer to Note 11, Subsequent Events to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures, including the sale of SCAC to
Lydall, Inc. on August 31, 2018.
NOTE 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet and the related unaudited condensed consolidated statements of
earnings and comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information. The condensed consolidated financial statements do not include
all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America for complete
financial statements.
In the opinion of the Company, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments,
consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of its financial position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and its
results of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the six month periods then ended. The condensed
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2017, was derived from audited annual consolidated financial statements, but does not contain
all of the footnote disclosures from the annual consolidated financial statements.
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
(dollar amounts in thousands)
Principles of Consolidation
The condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries consisting primarily of Interface Performance Materials, Inc. (“IPM”) (formerly known as Interface Solutions, Inc.), Interface
Sealing Solutions, Inc. (“ISS”) and Interface Sealing Solutions Hong Kong, Limited (“ISSHK”). Intercompany transactions and balances
between and among the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the
date of purchase.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts established to provide for losses from uncollectible accounts
based on management’s estimates and historical collections. Credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial
condition and the Company generally does not require collateral. Accounts are written off against the allowance when management
determines the account is uncollectible. Accounts are considered to be past due when the customer’s receivable balance ages beyond the
payment term date. Finance charges are not assessed on past due accounts.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value for first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method inventories or the lower of cost or
market for last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method inventories. The cost of inventories stated under the LIFO method was approximately 46% and
48% of total inventories as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. See Note 3 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information on our accounting for inventories.
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment is recorded at cost, with the exception of acquired assets which are recorded at their fair value as of the
date of acquisition. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated
useful lives of the property, plant, and equipment are as follows: 10 to 30 years for buildings, 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment,
and the lesser of the determined useful life or the life of the lease for leasehold improvements.
When assets are disposed of or retired, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the condensed consolidated
financial statements, and any resulting gains or losses normally are reflected in cost of goods sold or selling, general and administrative
(“SG&A”) expenses depending on the nature of the asset.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company tests long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. If the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows is less than the carrying
amount of the assets, the assets are considered to be impaired. Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. When fair values are not available, the Company estimates fair value using the
expected future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risks associated with the recovery of the assets or the best
available indicator of fair value. There were no impairment charges recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
Intangible Assets
The Company’s only indefinite lived intangible asset is Goodwill, which represents costs in excess of fair values assigned to the
underlying net assets of acquired businesses. Our definite-lived intangible assets are primarily customer lists, trademarks and trade names
and patents. The Company follows Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC 350”) Intangibles - Goodwill and Others. Although, as a
private company, the Company would be eligible to amortize goodwill under the provisions of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2014–02, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) the Company has not elected to adopt those provisions. As such, the guidance
requires that goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets not be amortized. Under the provisions of ASC 350, intangible assets,
including goodwill, that are not subject to amortization are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Beginning with the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company opted to perform
a qualitative assessment to test goodwill for impairment, as permitted by ASU 2011-08, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350).
ASU 2011-08 simplifies how entities test goodwill for impairment.
Based on the qualitative assessment as outlined in ASC 2011-08, if a Company determines that the fair value of a reporting unit is morelikely-than-not (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50 percent) to be less than its carrying amount, the two step impairment test would be
performed. In the first step, the Company would compare the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value. If the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not considered impaired and the Company is
not required to perform further testing. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the
reporting unit, then the Company would perform the second step of the impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value of the
goodwill. If the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then the Company would be required to record an impairment
loss equal to the difference.
There were no goodwill impairment charges recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017.
See Note 4 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosures on intangible assets.
Other Assets
Other long-term assets include primarily computer software which is being amortized over three to five years.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) and other changes in stockholders’ equity from transactions and events other
than with stockholders and dividends. See Note 8 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosure on
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”).
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized from the sale of products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss transfers to the
customer, prices are fixed and determinable, and it is reasonably assured the related accounts receivable is collectible. In the case of
consigned goods, revenue is recognized upon consumption by the customer. Sales to customers include freight invoiced while freight
expense incurred is included in cost of goods sold.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The Company records all
deferred tax assets and liabilities as non-current in the condensed consolidated balance sheet based upon ASC 740.
The Company follows the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. A tax
position is recognized as a benefit at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained in a tax examination based solely on its
merits. An uncertain tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Under the threshold
guidelines, the Company believes no significant uncertain tax positions exist, either individually or in the aggregate, that would result in
recognition of a liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
The Company’s policy is to account for interest as a component of interest expense and penalties as a component of other expense.
See Note 6 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further disclosures on income taxes.
Presentation of Sales Tax
The Company does not collect state sales taxes from its domestic customers because all domestic customers are manufacturers and exempt
from state sales taxes, but it does collect a value added tax on certain of its foreign sales and remits the entire amount to the foreign
government. The Company’s accounting policy is to exclude the tax collected and remitted from revenues and cost of goods sold.
Research and Development Costs
Costs associated with the development of new products and changes to existing products are expensed as incurred and are in included in
SG&A expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income.
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Foreign Currency Translation
The Company uses the local currency as the functional currency for foreign operations. Results of foreign operations are translated into
U.S. dollars using average exchange rates during the period, while assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates
in effect at the condensed consolidated balance sheet date. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).
Transaction gains and losses resulting from exchange rate changes on transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency are included in the Company’s condensed consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income in the period in which
the change occurs.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of certain contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through November 16, 2018, which is the date the condensed consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
During 2018, the company adopted the guidance of the FASB’s ASU No. 2017-07— “Compensation – Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost”. ASU No. 2017-07 improves the
presentation of net periodic pension and postretirement costs by requiring that employers report the service cost component in the same
line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by pertinent employees during the period. The other
components of net benefit cost are presented in the income statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal
of income from operations. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.
During 2017, the Company adopted the guidance of the FASB’s ASU 2015-11 “Inventory”, Topic 835-30: “Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory”. The guidance in this ASU applies to inventory measured using FIFO or average cost. The new guidance requires an entity to
measure inventory within the scope of the update at the lower of cost and net realizable value. There were no impacts to the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows as a result of this guidance.
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Issued Accounting Standards
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” ASU 2014-09 establishes principles
for recognizing revenue upon the transfer of promised goods or services to customers, in an amount that reflects the expected
consideration received in exchange for those goods or services. During 2015 and 2016, the FASB also issued ASU 2015-14, which defers
the effective date of ASU 2014-09; ASU No. 2016-08, “Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)”,
which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations in Topic 606; ASU 2016-10, “Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing”, which clarifies the identification of performance obligations and the licensing implementation
guidance; ASU 2016-12, “Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients” and ASU 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and
Improvements to Topic 606”, which both affect narrow aspects of Topic 606. During 2017, the FASB also issued ASU No. 2017-13 and
ASU No. 2017-14 that relate to revenue recognition for lessors and reporting of comprehensive income related to revenue recognition,
respectively. Topic 606 (as amended) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company may elect to apply the guidance earlier, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2016. The amendments may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognized as of the date of initial application. See Note 11, Subsequent Events, to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements for details related to the Company’s assessment of the effect that Topic 606 (as amended) had on its financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows as a result of this guidance when adopted on August 31, 2018 due to the sale of the
Company to a SEC registrant.
During February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 “Leases (Topic 842).” ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize the assets and
liabilities that arise from leases on the balance sheet. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make
lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. ASU 201602 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2020. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect that ASU No. 2016-02 will have on its financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows as a result of this guidance.
During January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.” ASU No. 2017-04 simplifies how
an entity is required to test goodwill for impairment by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. ASU No. 2017-04 is effective
for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted for interim
or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company notes that the adoption of this ASU
will only impact the condensed consolidated financial statements in the event a goodwill impairment were to be recognized.
During February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, “Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income” which is intended to help organizations
reclassify certain stranded income tax effects in accumulated other comprehensive income resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 (the Act). This ASU will eliminate the stranded tax effects associated with the Act’s change in the federal corporate income tax rate,
while improving the usefulness of information reported to financial statement users. The amendments require financial statement preparers
to reclassify stranded tax effects within accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings in each period in which the effect of
the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Act (or portion thereof) is recorded. The amount of the reclassification would
be the difference between the historical corporate income tax rate and the newly enacted 21 percent corporate income tax rate. The ASU is
effective for all organizations for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted. Organizations are required to apply the proposed amendments retrospectively to each period (or periods) in which
the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Act is recognized. The Company is currently assessing the
effect that ASU No. 2018-02 will have on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows as a result of this guidance.
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NOTE 3. Inventories
As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, inventory listed below was shown net of an obsolescence allowance of $1,911 and $1,776,
respectively.
June 30,
2018
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Supplies

$

FIFO value
LIFO allowance

6,971
4,212
5,249
3,310

December 31,
2017
$

19,742
(244)
$

19,498

5,972
4,553
5,040
2,996
18,561
(244)

$

18,317

Supplies inventory includes components that will be coupled with gaskets for kits as well as fuel and spare parts available for use in the
Company’s operations.
NOTE 4. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Under ASC 350, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment. See Note
2 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the Company’s accounting policy for intangible assets.
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The following table reflects the components of intangible assets as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
June 30, 2018
Gross Carrying
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization
Non-amortized intangible assets:
Goodwill
Amortized intangible assets:
Patents
Trademarks and trade names
Customer lists and relationships

$

57,424

$

$

1,183
7,327
38,760

$

47,270

December 31, 2017
Gross Carrying
Accumulated
Amount
Amortization

-

$

57,424

$

-

$

(1,183) $
(7,327)
(25,841)

1,183
7,334
38,802

$

(1,183)
(7,334)
(24,023)

$

(34,351) $

47,319

$

(32,540)

Goodwill is presented net of the accumulated impairment loss of $16,023 as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
In addition to goodwill, the Company has customer relationships, trademarks and trade names, and patents which are deemed to have a finite
life, and are amortized over the useful lives of these assets, ranging from 5 to 10 years.
Amortization expense for intangible assets with finite lives was as follows:
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2018
2017
Amortization expense

$

1,860

$

1,815

NOTE 5. Debt
On June 20, 2014, the Company amended and restated its $105,000 credit facility with a modified lending syndicate. The amended facility is
comprised of a $100,000 term loan and a $20,000 revolving credit facility (with a $3,000 sublimit for letters of credit), both of which are scheduled
to mature on June 20, 2019. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are limited based on certain levels of eligible accounts receivable and
inventories. Commitment fees are charged at 0.45% on the unused portion of the revolver. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility and
term loan bear interest, payable monthly, at rates based on a bank base rate plus an applicable margin or payable quarterly, at LIBOR plus an
applicable margin. At the Company’s election, the borrowings under the term loan bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin. Interest is
payable based on the respective LIBOR rate maturity (interest period), provided that if the LIBOR maturity is six months or longer, interest is
payable on the ninetieth day of the interest period, and every ninetieth day thereafter until the end of the interest period and on the last day of
the interest period.
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Borrowings under the credit agreement are collateralized by 100% of the capital stock of the Company and the Company’s domestic and select
foreign subsidiaries, 65% of the capital stock of certain other of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries and substantially all of the real and
personal property of the Company and the Company’s domestic subsidiaries.
Concurrent with the amendment of the credit facility in June 2014, the terms of the $32,000, related party, subordinated notes entered into on
December 21, 2011 were also updated. Borrowings on the subordinated notes now bear interest at 12% payable on the first day of each March,
June, September, and December, effective June 20, 2014. The interest rate was reduced from the initial 18% and the terms of the interest
payments were modified, from exclusively Payment-in-Kind (“PIK”), to include PIK, cash payment, or a combination of the two methods. The
maturity date was also extended from June 21, 2017 to June 21, 2020. On November 30, 2017 the Company entered into an additional $429 of
subordinated notes subject to the June 2014 updated terms and conditions. The outstanding principal and related accrued interest are included
in the outstanding balances shown in the table below.
In June 2017, the Company re-negotiated the terms and conditions of the credit facility (“new agreement”). The new agreement reduced the
revolving credit facility to $13,300. The Company is now required to maintain a senior leverage ratio of less than 3.95 or 3.75 to 1 for the quarters
ending June 30, 2017 through June 30, 2018 (modified from 3.50 or 3.25 to 1 for the same periods), effective September 30, 2018 the senior
leverage ratio will correspond with the original agreement at 3.25 to 1, the fixed charge covenant will remain unchanged at 1.1 to 1. Additionally,
under the agreement the Company was required to (1) pay certain fees and expenses of the lenders; (2) issue the 2016 Audited Financial
Statements within 30 days from the effective date of the new agreement in addition to other financial and banking requirements. Lastly, the
Company was permitted to resume payments of management fees once the Company is compliant with the financial ratios contained in the
original credit agreement. In September 2017, the Company’s leverage ratio dropped below the original credit agreement requirement of 3.5 to 1,
as a result the Company paid $660 of the management fees accrued on the balance sheet at December 31, 2016.
The available borrowings under the revolving credit facility are reduced by the total outstanding letters of credit. The Company had letters of
credit outstanding of $126 at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The available credit under the revolving credit facility, net of borrowings, is
approximately $10,124 and $11,124, at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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A summary of debt consists of the following:
June 30,
2018
Senior Debt:
Variable rate term loan; as a result of the excess cash flow payment required at December 31,
2016 the repayment schedule was modified to require quarterly principal payments of
$1,186 through June 30, 2018, $1,811 from September 30, 2018 through March 30, 2019, with
the balance due at maturity on June 20, 2019. Additional principal payments may be due
based on annual excess cash flow as defined in the credit agreement. If such payments are
required the future quarterly principal payments will be modified to reflect these
payments. Interest is charged at varying rates: 5.84% and 5.68% at June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017.
$
Less: Unamortized financing costs
Senior Debt, net
Revolving Credit Facility:
Revolver bearing interest at LIBOR plus applicable margin, which was 5.60% and 5.57%,
respectively, at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The latest amendment effective June
20, 2014 extended the due date from February 1, 2017 to June 20, 2019
Subordinated Debt:
Fixed rate term loan, interest at 12% scheduled to mature on June 21, 2020.

Current maturities
$

December 31,
2017

72,182 $
(334)
71,848

74,555
(507)
74,048

3,000

2,000

48,184

45,404

123,032
(74,848)

121,452
(5,996)

48,184

$

115,456

The PIK on the subordinated debt represents interest expense incurred, but not paid in cash. The PIK is added quarterly to the principal
amount due and future period interest accruals are based on principal amounts including PIK incurred. The total amount of PIK interest
outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, was $15,756 and $12,976, respectively. The total interest expense related to the
subordinated debt was $2,780 and $2,443 for the six month periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Cash interest payments related to senior debt were $2,208 and $2,442 for the six month periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
These amounts exclude all payments for PIK interest related to the subordinated debt.
The debt arrangements in place as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 subject the Company to various affirmative and negative covenants.
Among other things, the covenants limit the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, declare or pay dividends, and require the
Company to maintain certain financial ratios with respect to fixed charge coverage and senior leverage as defined in the arrangements.
NOTE 6. Income Taxes
On December 22, 2017, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law. The legislation significantly changes U.S. tax law by, among other things,
lowering corporate income tax rates, implementing a territorial tax system and imposing a repatriation tax on deemed repatriated earnings of
foreign subsidiaries. The Act permanently reduces the U.S. corporate income tax rate from a maximum of 35% to a flat 21% rate, effective
January 1, 2018. During 2017, the Company recognized provisional tax impacts related to the Act in its consolidated financial statements. The
actual impact may differ from the provisional amounts due to, among other things, additional analysis, changes in interpretations and
assumptions that Company may make, additional regulatory guidance that may be issued, and actions the Company may decide to take as a
result of the Act. For the six month period ended June 30, 2018, the Company did not record any adjustments to the provisional amounts, nor
deemed any of them as complete.
The Company’s income tax expense in the condensed consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the six month periods
ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, differed from income tax expense at the statutory federal rate primarily due to permanent differences; including
the effects of the Domestic Production Activity Deduction, and the recording of valuation allowances and state income taxes.

Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense
Effective tax rate

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2018
2017
4,519 $
4,269
1,490
2,621
32.9%
61.4%

The effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2018 was lower than the comparable period of 2017 primarily due to the decrease in the
federal US statutory tax rate mentioned above, combined with the decrease in the effective rate related to the valuation allowance. The
remaining change is representative of other immaterial differences in rate modifications between the two periods.
The results of certain foreign operations are included in the domestic taxable income or loss for tax purposes.
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NOTE 7. Pension Plans and Other Benefit Programs
The Company has two domestic noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering the majority of employees. For the larger of the two
plans, effective May 1, 2005, newly hired non-union employees, effective July 1, 2005, newly hired Fulton union employees, effective
November 16, 2008, newly hired Hoosick Falls union employees, and effective December 31, 2009, newly hired Lewis union employees of
Interface Performance Materials, Inc. are no longer enrolled in the plan; instead, some of these employee groups are eligible for a Company
match in the Company’s defined contribution 401(k) plans. For the smaller of the two plans, effective June 15, 2009, newly hired non-union
employees at the Marshalltown facility of Interface Sealing Solutions, Inc. are no longer enrolled in the plan. For the larger of the two plans, the
benefits are based on years of service and the employee’s average compensation during the three highest of last ten consecutive years of
covered employment. For the smaller plan, the benefits are based on years of service with a fixed monthly accrual each year. The projected unit
credit method is used to determine both pension costs and funding requirements. The Company’s funding policy is to contribute annually the
minimum amount required by U.S. government agencies’ regulations. The assets for the plans are principally invested in stocks, bonds, and
mutual funds.
In 2008, for non-union members of the larger plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective December 31, 2008. The pension benefit
was replaced by discretionary employer contributions to one of the Company’s defined contribution plans beginning in 2009. In 2009, for nonunion members of the smaller plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective June 15, 2009. Also in 2009, for Lewis union employees
participating in the larger plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective December 31, 2009. In 2010, for Hoosick Falls union
members of the larger plan, the Company froze benefits being accrued effective December 31, 2013. In March 2012, for union members of the
smaller plan, the Company froze benefits effective May 31, 2012.
The Company provides postretirement life insurance to all employees of Interface Performance Materials, Inc., and postretirement medical
benefits to all Fulton plant hourly employees hired prior to July 1, 2002 and certain executives as determined by the Board of Directors. There
was a significant amendment to the Fulton hourly postretirement medical benefits portion of the plan effective October 1, 2005, which
eliminated the benefit for future retirees and replaced it with a fixed credit amount. During 2008, the Fulton plan was amended such that the life
insurance benefit would only be provided upon the participant retiring prior to 2010.
Following are the components of net periodic benefit costs (credits):
Six Months Ended June 30,
2018
2017
U.S. Defined Benefit Plans:
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Net periodic pension (credit)

16

$

116 $
877
(1,400)
(1)

118
357
(475)
(1)

$

(408) $

(1)

Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Company and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
(dollar amounts in thousands)
U.S. Retiree Health Benefits:
Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization of unrecognized (gain)/loss

$

Net periodic postretirement cost

$

6 $
138
(91)
53

$

3
291
(181)
113

The Company sponsors two retirement plans for the employees of Interface Performance Materials Altenkirchen (“IPMA”). The
noncontributory pension plan covers all employees of IPMA hired prior to June 30, 1980; on this date the plan was frozen to new participation.
The second plan is associated with the German retirement program known as the German Altersteilzeit Arrangement (“ATZ”). The German ATZ
is designed to create incentive for employees within a certain age group to transition from full time or part time employment into retirement
before their legal retirement age.
The Company expects to contribute approximately $1,500 in cash for the domestic pension plans in 2018. Contributions of approximately $1,000
were made in the first six months of 2018.
As of January 1, 2018 the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-07— “Compensation – Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost”. This ASU requires that employers report the
service cost component in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered by pertinent employees
during the period, while the other components of net benefit cost, which includes interest costs, expected return on plan assets, and
amortization of actuarial gain/loss be presented in the income statement outside a subtotal of income from operations.
The following table presents the components of net periodic pension credit and postretirement cost within our Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Earnings and Comprehensive Income:
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2018
2017
Service cost represented in cost of goods sold
Service cost represented in SG&A expenses
Other non-operating income

$

49 $
72
(476)

Net periodic pension (credit) and postretirement cost

$

(355)

17

55
65
(8)
112
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
(dollar amounts in thousands)
NOTE 8. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The following table summarizes the activity, by component, related to the change in AOCI for the six month periods ended June 30, 2018 and
2017:
Foreign
Currency
Translation
Adjustments
Balance December 31, 2017
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Balance, June 30, 2018

$

Balance December 31, 2016
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications
Balance, June 30, 2017

$

$

$

Postretirement
Medical and
Pension
Liability

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(1,674) $
(572)
(2,246) $

(1,085) $
(3)
(1,088) $

(2,759)
(575)
(3,334)

(3,555) $
1,221
(2,334) $

(2,821) $
9
(2,812) $

(6,376)
1,230
(5,146)

NOTE 9. Related Party Transactions
As of December 21, 2011, the Company became party to a Management Services Agreement with Wind Point VII, L.P., a related party, under
which it incurs an annual fee of $1,320, paid quarterly in installments of $330 (when not prohibited by other agreements). Management fees
accrued on the condensed consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were $2,310 and $1,980, respectively. The
Company recognizes the fees in expense, and the fees are classified as accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.
Related parties of the Company held $48,184 and $45,404 of the Company’s Subordinated Debt as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively. On November 30, 2017 additional amounts of $429 were loaned to the Company. These funds are subject to the terms and
conditions of the existing Subordinated Debt agreement. During the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company incurred interest
expense of $2,780 and $2,443 related to this debt, respectively, all of which was considered PIK and included in the outstanding principal
balance. As required under terms of the Company’s subordinated note arrangements, this interest can be paid in cash, in kind or in a
combination thereof.
NOTE 10. Litigation and Contingent Liabilities
The Company is involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business and is subject to certain environmental risks the results of
which, in the opinion of management, are not likely to be material to the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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NOTE 11. Subsequent Events
On August 31, 2018, Lydall, Inc. acquired 100% of the stock of SCAC for $268,400, net of cash acquired of $5,200, subject to a post-closing
purchase price adjustment. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the six-month period ended June 30, 2018 reflect approximately $550
of transaction related costs associated with this transaction.
Concurrent with the sale of the Company, proceeds were used to satisfy all amounts outstanding on August 31, 2018 under the Company’s
senior debt, revolving credit facility and subordinated debt agreements as well as the Management Services Agreement with Wind Point VII,
L.P. The Company’s assets are now pledged as collateral under Lydall, Inc.’s credit facility.
On August 31, 2018, the Company’s three 401(K) plans were terminated, two of which were required to be closed under the conditions of the
stock purchase agreement between Lydall, Inc. and SCAC. The Company’s pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans were acquired
by Lydall, Inc. on the acquisition date.
As a result of the sale of the Company to Lydall, Inc an SEC registrant, the Company adopted the requirements of ASU No. 2014-09 (“ASC
606”), effective August 31, 2018, using the modified retrospective transition method. At adoption date, the cumulative impact of revenue that
would have been recognized over time is approximately $300 to $500. Additionally, the Company will recognize the cumulative effect of
adoption on the Consolidated Balance Sheet primarily as an increase in unbilled accounts receivable and a reduction in inventoriable costs as
of August 31, 2018.
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Section 5: EX-99.3 (EXHIBIT 99.3)
Exhibit 99.3
Lydall, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements
Overview
On August 31, 2018, Lydall, Inc. (the “Company”) completed the acquisition of Interface Performance Materials ("Interface"), based in Lancaster,
Pennsylvania. A globally-recognized leader in the delivery of engineered sealing solutions, the Interface operations manufacture wet-laid gasket
and specialty materials primarily serving OEM and Tier I manufacturers in the agriculture, construction, earthmoving, industrial, and automotive
markets. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to the terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 9, 2018, by and among the
Company, Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co., and Vulcan Global, LLC (the “Purchase Agreement”). Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co. is the
parent holding company of the Interface operations.
The transaction strengthens the Company's position as an industry-leading global provider of filtration materials and expands the Company's end
markets into attractive adjacencies. The Company acquired Interface for $268.4 million, net of cash acquired of $5.2 million, subject to post-closing
purchase price adjustments. The purchase price was financed with a combination of cash on hand and $261.4 million of borrowings from the
Company's $450 million amended credit facility. Beginning with 2018 third quarter reporting, the acquired business was included in the Company's
Performance Materials reporting segment.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 are presented as if the
acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2017 and are based upon the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations of the Company
for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 (as filed with the SEC in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2018)
and the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations of Interface for the eight months ended August 31, 2018.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 are presented as if the acquisition
had occurred on January 1, 2017 and are based upon the audited consolidated statements of operations of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2017 (as filed with the SEC in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017) and the audited consolidated
statement of earnings and comprehensive income of Interface for the year ended December 31, 2017 (attached as Exhibit 99.1 in this Current Report
on Form 8-K/A).

The financial statements of the Company and Interface have been adjusted in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to
give effect to events that are directly attributable to the acquisition, are factually supportable and are expected to have a continuing impact on the
combined company. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been presented for informational purposes only. The
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are not necessarily indicative of what the combined company’s financial position or
results of operations actually would have been had the acquisition been completed as of the dates indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements do not purport to project the future financial position or operating results of the combined company.
There were no transactions between the Company and Interface for the periods presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements that would need to be eliminated.
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The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). Assumptions and estimates underlying the pro forma adjustments are
described in the accompanying notes and should be read in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
Acquisition accounting is preliminary and dependent upon fair value estimates that are based on a complex series of judgments about future events
and uncertainties and rely heavily on estimates and assumptions. The judgments used to determine the estimated fair value assigned to each class
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as asset lives, can materially impact the Company’s results of operations. The pro forma
adjustments related to the acquisition are based upon available information and certain assumptions that management believes are reasonable
under the circumstances and have been made solely for the purpose of preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements included in this Form 8-K/A. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final acquisition accounting could occur and these
differences could have a material impact on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and the combined company’s future
results of operations and financial position.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2018, the audited consolidated financial statements of Interface for the years ended December 31, 2017 and
2016 and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Interface for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. The unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial statements do not reflect any cost savings from operating efficiencies or revenue enhancements that the
combined company may achieve as a result of the acquisition and the effects of the foregoing items could, individually or in the aggregate,
materially impact the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
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Lydall, Inc.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018

In thousands except per share data
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, product development and administrative expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense
Other income, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Income from equity method investment
Net income (loss)
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Pro Forma
Lydall, Inc. Interface Adjustments (Note 5)
$

$

575,959 $
465,186
110,773
74,755
36,018
2,617
(93)
33,494
5,854
(120)
27,760 $

$
$

1.61
1.60
17,189
17,339

102,469 $
71,024
31,445
32,002
(557)
6,929
(534)
(6,952)
1,872
(8,824) $

Pro Forma Combined

(10) (a)
$
(2,346) (b)(c)(d)(e)
2,336
(3,728) (c)(d)(f)(g)(h)
6,064
529 (i)(j)(k)
5,535
(1,940) (l)(m)
7,475
$
$
$

678,418
533,864
144,554
103,029
41,525
10,075
(627)
32,077
5,786
(120)
26,411
1.54
1.52
17,189
17,339

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, which are an integral part of these statements.
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Lydall, Inc.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended December 31, 2017

In thousands except per share data
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, product development and administrative expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Other expense (income), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense
Loss from equity method investment
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Pro Forma
Lydall, Inc. Interface Adjustments (Note 6)
$

$
$
$

698,437 $ 141,603 $
535,375
99,342
163,062
42,261
97,635
28,958
65,427
13,303
2,720
10,039
1,388
(10)
61,319
3,274
11,974
2,007
28
49,317 $ 1,267 $
2.89
2.85
17,045
17,317

Pro Forma Combined

$
1,189 (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f)
(1,189)
11,619 (a)(b)(e)(f)(g)
(12,808)
675 (h)(i)(j)
267 (e)(f)
(13,750)
(5,754) (k)(l)
(7,996)
$

840,040
635,906
204,134
138,212
65,922
13,434
1,645
50,843
8,227
28
42,588

$
$

2.50
2.46
17,045
17,317

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, which are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – The Transaction
On August 31, 2018, Lydall, Inc. (the “Company”) completed the acquisition of Interface Performance Materials ("Interface"), based in Lancaster,
Pennsylvania. A globally-recognized leader in the delivery of engineered sealing solutions, the Interface operations manufacture wet-laid gasket
and specialty materials primarily serving OEM and Tier I manufacturers in the agriculture, construction, earthmoving, industrial, and automotive
markets. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to the terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 9, 2018, by and among the
Company, Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co., and Vulcan Global, LLC (the “Purchase Agreement”). Susquehanna Capital Acquisition Co. is the
parent holding company of the Interface operations.
The transaction strengthens the Company's position as an industry-leading global provider of filtration materials and expands the Company's end
markets into attractive adjacencies. The Company acquired Interface for $268.4 million, net of cash acquired of $5.2 million, subject to post-closing
purchase price adjustments. The purchase price was financed with a combination of cash on hand and $261.4 million of borrowings from the
Company's $450 million amended credit facility. Beginning with 2018 third quarter reporting, the acquired business was included in the Company's
Performance Materials reporting segment.
Note 2 – Basis of Presentation
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP) and were derived based on the financial statements of the Company and
Interface and adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that are (i) directly attributable to the acquisition; (ii) factually supportable; and (iii)
expected to have a continuing impact on the combined company's results. Adjustments are described in the accompanying notes to the unaudited
pro forma condensed combined financial statements, which include assumptions utilized and reclassification adjustments in Interface accounting
policy to conform with Company established policies. There were no transactions between Lydall and Interface for the periods presented in the pro
forma condensed combined financial statements that would need to be eliminated.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and for the year ended
December 31, 2017 are presented as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2017.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 combines the Company’s
unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 (as filed with the SEC in its Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2018), which include the results of Interface from the date of the acquisition, and
Interface’s unaudited condensed consolidated statement of earnings for the eight months ended August 31, 2018.
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The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 combines the Company’s audited
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 (as filed with the SEC in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2017) with Interface’s audited consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2017 (attached as
Exhibit 99.1 in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A).
Under the acquisition method of accounting, the Company measures and recognizes separately from goodwill the fair value of all identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as part of the acquisition as of August 31, 2018. For purposes of measuring the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, the Company has applied the accounting guidance for fair value measurements in accordance with GAAP. Fair value is defined
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the
measurement date. The fair value measurements utilize estimates based on key assumptions, including historical and current market data. The
preliminary allocation of the purchase price as detailed in Note 4, ("Purchase Price Allocation") in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial statements was based upon preliminary estimates and assumptions that are subject to change as the Company’s management finalizes the
fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the one year measurement period. The final purchase price allocation may differ
from that reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements reflect an illustrative allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired based on currently available information.
Notwithstanding those items, management believes that the assumptions provide a reasonable basis for presenting all of the significant effects of
the acquisition and that the pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those assumptions and are properly applied in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial statements.
Transaction related costs have been excluded from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations as they reflect nonrecurring charges directly related to the acquisition.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not reflect any revenue enhancements or cost savings (or associated costs
to achieve such savings) from operating efficiencies, synergies or other actions that could result from the acquisition.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are presented for informational purposes only and are not intended to reflect
the results of operations of the combined company that would have resulted had the acquisition been effective for the periods presented or the
results that may be obtained by the combined company in the future.
Note 3 – Reclassifications
Reclassification adjustments have been made in the presentation of Interface amounts to conform to GAAP and to the Company’s presentation.
Refer to Note 5(c) and Note 6(a)(d)(f).
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Note 4 — Purchase Price Allocation
Pursuant to the Company’s business combinations accounting policy, the total preliminary purchase price for Interface was allocated to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their preliminary fair values as of the acquisition date. The excess of the
purchase price over the preliminary net assets (including identifiable intangible assets) was recorded as goodwill. The purchase price was allocated
based upon preliminary estimates and assumptions that are subject to change as the Company finalizes the fair values of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed over the one year measurement period. The final purchase price allocation may differ from that reflected in the pro forma
condensed combined financial statements.
The following is a preliminary fair value estimate of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed by the Company in the acquisition of Interface as
of August 31, 2018:
(In thousands)
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Other assets
Current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Benefit plan liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total purchase price, net of cash acquired

$

25,182
17,313
2,382
40,902
130,462
107,800
308
(11,319)
(25,275)
(18,352)
(1,031)
268,372

$

Identifiable intangible assets: The estimated fair value of the identifiable intangible assets and the weighted average estimated useful lives (in
years) are as follows:

Customer relationships
Trade names
Total

$
$

Estimated
Fair Value
(In thousands)
104,600
3,200
107,800

Estimated
Useful Life
13
3

The estimated amortization of the identifiable intangible assets for the five years following the acquisition are as follows:
(In thousands)
Customer relationships
Trade names
Total

$
$

2018
14,709
1,261
15,970

$
$

7

2019
13,034
384
13,418

$
$

2020
11,295
11,295

2021
$
$

2022
9,965
9,965

$
$

8,921
8,921

Goodwill: Represents the excess of the purchase consideration transferred over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the
acquisition date. Goodwill is not amortized.
Deferred Tax Liabilities: Reflects the deferred taxes primarily related to fair value adjustments for acquired intangible assets, inventories and
property, plant and equipment.
Note 5 – Pro Forma Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the Nine Months ended
September 30, 2018
The following pro forma adjustments were applied to the statements of operations for the Company and Interface for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 (in thousands):
(a)

To adjust Interface sales to conform with ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC Topic
606”)

$

(10)

(b)

To adjust Interface cost of goods sold to conform with ASC Topic 606

$

9

(c)

To reclass Interface expenses recorded in cost of goods sold to selling, product development and administrative
expenses to conform with established Lydall policies

$

1,112

To record additional depreciation expense resulting from the increased basis of property, plant and equipment
acquired and depreciated using the straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful lives. $147 of depreciation
expense was recorded to cost of sales and $(132) to selling, product development and administrative expenses

$

15

(e)

To remove the amortization of the step up in fair value of inventory acquired

$

(1,390)

(f)

To record incremental amortization of intangible assets. The amortization of customer relationships and trade names
has been calculated based on their respective fair values and amortized over their estimated lives (Note 4)

$

8,643

(g)

To eliminate transaction expenses associated with the acquisition of which $2,626 were incurred by Lydall

$

(7,724)

(h)

To remove Interface compensation related costs from selling, product development and administrative expense
triggered at the time of the Acquisition.

$

(5,627)

To record interest expense on $261,400 in borrowings to complete the Acquisition, using an interest rate of current
LIBOR of 2.24%, plus 1.63%. Interest rates for the Amended Credit Facility are variable and the actual rate of interest
can change from the assumed current LIBOR of 2.24% above. A 1/8% variance in the interest rate on the new
borrowings would impact interest expense by approximately $245

$

7,310

(j)

To eliminate Interface’s historical interest expense on debt settled prior to the Acquisition

$

(6,681)

(k)

To record amortization of deferred financing costs of $129 and eliminate historical deferred financing costs of
Interface

$

(100)

To record the provision for income taxes. Provision for income taxes associated with pro forma entries was based on
the Company’s estimated statutory tax rates, except for transaction expenses which were based on the effective tax
rate

$

385

To remove the impact of the historical tax valuation allowance recorded by Interface

$

(d)

(i)

(l)

(m)
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(2,325)

Note 6 – Pro Forma Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the Year ended December 31,
2017
The following pro forma adjustments were applied to the statements of operations for the Company and Interface for the year ended December 31,
2017 (in thousands):
(a)

To reclass Interface costs recorded in cost of goods sold to selling, product development and administrative
expenses to conform with established Lydall policies

$

1,483

To record additional depreciation expense resulting from increased basis of property, plant and equipment acquired
and depreciated using straight line basis over the estimated remaining useful lives. $815 of depreciation expense was
recorded to cost of sales and $(159) to selling, product development and administrative expenses

$

656

(c)

To record the amortization of the step up in fair value of inventory acquired

$

1,975

(d)

To remove the LIFO allowance recorded by Interface to conform with established Lydall policy

$

(e)

To reclassify Lydall's pension net benefit costs of $296 from cost of sales and $477 from selling, product
development and administrative expenses to other expense (income), net, in accordance with the Lydall's adoption of
Accounting Standards Update number 2017-07, "Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost" on January 1, 2018
$

773

To reclassify Interface's pension net benefit income of $282 from cost of sales and $224 from selling, product
development and administrative expenses to other expense (income), net, in accordance with the Lydall's adoption of
Accounting Standards Update number 2017-07, "Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715): Improving the
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost" on January 1, 2018
$

(506)

(b)

(f)

(g)

(104)

To record incremental amortization of intangible assets. The amortization of customer relationships and trade names
has been calculated based on their respective fair values and amortized over their estimated lives (Note 4)

$

10,548

To record interest expense on $261,400 in borrowings to complete the acquisition, using an interest rate of current
LIBOR of 2.24%, plus 1.63%. Interest rates for the Amended Credit Facility are variable and the actual rate of interest
can change from the assumed current LIBOR of 2.24% above. A 1/8% variance in the interest rate on the new
borrowings would impact interest expense by approximately $327

$

10,488

(i)

To eliminate Interface’s historical interest expense on debt settled prior to the Acquisition

$

(9,662)

(j)

To record amortization of deferred financing costs of $193 and eliminate historical deferred financing costs of
Interface

$

(151)

To record the provision for income taxes. Provision for income taxes associated with pro forma entries was based on
the Company’s estimated statutory tax rates, except for transaction expenses based on the effective tax rate

$

(4,758)

To remove the impact of the historical tax valuation allowance recorded by Interface

$

(996)

(h)

(k)

(l)
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